1997

Mary Ann Moon v. Stanley W. Moon : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

A. Did the trial court have the authority to rule that the Order to Show Cause, which had been dismissed, was in fact the pleading on which the case should be based rather than upon petitioner's Petition for Modification.

/

/

/

1. **Standard of Review**

Correction of error standard. See Bailey v. Call, 767 P.2d 138 (Utah App. 1989), cert. denied, 773 P.2d 45 (Utah 1989). Whether the finding is clearly erroneous. Ashton v. Ashton, 732 P.2d 147 (Utah 1987).

B. Was there a sufficient basis pursuant to the petitioner's Petition for Modification to modify the Decree of Divorce.

1. **Standard of Review**

Abuse of discretion. Asper v. Asper, 752 P.2d 978 (Ut.Ct.App. 1988). "Conclusions of law [are] accord(ed) no particular deference, but [are] review(ed) for correctness." Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985) (citing Automotive Manufacturers Warehouse, Inc. v. Service Auto Parts, Inc., 596 P.2d 1033, 1036 (Utah 1979) and Betenseon v. Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc., 645 P.2d 684, 686 (Utah 1982)).

C. If the court should award the payment of alimony on funds which are not received by an individual based upon K-1 distributions.

1. **Standard of Review**

Abuse of discretion. Asper v. Asper, 752 P.2d 978 (Ut.Ct.App. 1988). "Conclusions of law [are] accord(ed) no particular deference, but [are] review(ed) for correctness." Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985) (citing Automotive Manufacturers Warehouse, Inc. v. Service

Auto Parts, Inc., 596 P.2d 1033, 1036 (Utah 1979) and Betenseon v. Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc., 645 P.2d 684, 686 (Utah 1982)).

D. Was there sufficient evidence presented for the awarding of attorneys fees.

1. Standard of Review

Abuse of discretion. Asper v. Asper, 752 P.2d 978 (Ut.Ct.App. 1988). "Conclusions of law [are] accord[ed] no particular deference, but [are] review[ed] for correctness." Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985) (citing Automotive Manufacturers Warehouse, Inc. v. Service Auto Parts, Inc., 596 P.2d 1033, 1036 (Utah 1979) and Betenseon v. Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc., 645 P.2d 684, 686 (Utah 1982)). Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1988).

III. CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

There are no constitutional provisions at issue in this case.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law on petitioner's Order to Show Cause and Petition to Modify, and on respondent's Objection to Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order before the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, presiding, which trial occurred on May 29, 1997 wherein the trial court awarded to the petitioner additional sums of alimony and attorneys fees.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 30, 1992 the parties had reached a stipulation at a pre-trial. Pursuant to the stipulation of the parties the court had entered the Decree of Divorce on August 26, 1992.

Paragraph 8 of the Decree of Divorce provides in part as follows:

"The defendant shall pay to the plaintiff the sum of \$2,400 per month as alimony plus thirty percent (30%) of the gross income of any bonus he may receive each calendar year..."(R 505)

Paragraph 6 of the Findings of Fact which was for the determination of child support, provides in part as follows:

"The parties have agreed and the court finds that the plaintiff has been employed as a school teacher and earning \$1,750 gross monthly income. Further, her income will be reduced effective July 1, 1992 to part-time income of approximately \$900 per month. The defendant's income is \$250,000 per year which is paid \$150,000 as annual salary and bonus of approximately \$100,000. The monthly income of the defendant when it is annualized is \$20,833.00 per month. The parties have agreed that the Uniform Child Support Guidelines will not apply in this case..." (R 494-495)

Paragraph 10 of the Findings of Fact which deals with alimony provides in part as follows:

"Based upon the incomes of the parties the defendant has agreed to pay to the plaintiff the sum of \$2,400 per month as alimony. The defendant will also pay to the plaintiff, as additional alimony thirty percent (30%) of the gross amount of any bonuses he receives as additional income above his annual base salary which is currently \$150,000 without bonuses... Accordingly, after deductions for state and federal taxes, social security, health care premiums, child support and alimony, the defendant will be left with approximately \$2,500 net income to meet his own monthly financial needs. Payment of alimony and the total amounts required when considering defendant's annual income can only be made after the defendant has received his bonus."(R 496-497)

At the time that the parties entered into the stipulation it was acknowledged and the court was informed by petitioner's counsel, that the business in which the respondent is a twenty percent (20%) shareholder was undergoing a tax audit and that the structure of the compensation would be modified and changed. (R 1165 at p.8; R 1167 at p.6-8; R 1166 at p.23-24) It was further recognized that the respondent would most likely have to pay to the IRS taxes because of the audit and the changing of the tax structure. Mr. Peterson, petitioner's attorney, represented to the court as follows:

"There is a tax liability being assessed to either MST Trucking or MST Financial or Mr. Moon individually, and Mr. Moon will be responsible for that. Without any question, any tax effect as to his own income as a result of that, and whatever the result of that audit is that is taking place with MST Trucking." (R 1165 at p.8; R 1166 at p.24)

The respondent has not received any bonuses after the restructuring of the corporation when MST Trucking became a Sub-Chapter "S" Corporation and was no longer a "C" Corporation. The respondent continued however, to pay to the petitioner one-third (1/3) of all "cash" distributions which he received from MST Trucking. The distributions were returns on his investment and were not bonuses. (R 1167 at p.12, 47 and 49)

In July 1995, the petitioner filed an Order to Show Cause against the respondent claiming that he had not paid to the petitioner the "bonus" money. (R 832-834)

The Order to Show Cause was heard in front of the Honorable Lisa A. Jones, Domestic Relations Commissioner, and she thereafter entered her order pursuant to Minute Entry dated February 12, 1996. (R at p.959-961) Pursuant to her determination it was determined that the

petitioner's request was in fact a "Petition for Modification" and was not an Order to Show Cause and that the changing of the structure of the company did not entitle the petitioner to thirty percent (30%) of the monies above the \$150,000 income which were received by the respondent. The trial court affirmed that order pursuant to Order dated March 27, 1996. (R at p.967-968) No appeal was taken by the petitioner to modify that ruling.

The petitioner filed a Petition for Modification on March 3, 1996. (R at p.962-966) The petitioner's Petition alleged that the respondent had diverted income to salary rather than bonuses and was working and planned to constructively prohibit and limit payments of alimony to the petitioner.

The trial court held, at the trial on May 29, 1997, over the objections of the respondent, that the matter was before the court on an Order to Show Cause and/or that the petitioner's attorney should have objected to the Commissioner's recommendation and submitted the matter on the Order to Show Cause (R 1166 at p.2) but in any event even if this ruling is wrong that there has been a substantial and material change of circumstances in order to grant the Petition for Modification and to modify the Decree of Divorce. The trial court stated:

“Counsel, let me first indicate to you, as I stated this morning, I indicated to you that this comes before the court not only on a Petition to Modify but on the Order to Show Cause. Mr. Ludlow has taken issue with that, which he has the right to do. And the court took the position – and I still take the position – that, at pretrial, this matter was discussed and expressed to both counsels as far as the Order to Show Cause or Petition to Modify, and the court would be looking at both of them.

This court is of the opinion that this should be before the court on the Order to Show Cause and not on the Petition to Modify. I think counsel, Mr. Hunt, was wrong in not bringing an objection to the recommendation of the Commissioner. I

am sure I signed for a recommendation when it came before me. Unless there is an objection made to those, then they're automatically signed.

But I think, either way, about the only difference it makes as far as the Order to Show Cause or the Petition to Modify would be the question as far as retro-activity of any amounts which the court may award.

So, I am looking at this, at both of those, and I am going to make a ruling on both and if the failure to file an objection is controlling in it, as far Mr. Hunt's position is concerned, then of course somebody else will have to tell us that." (See Appendix B at p.2)

Pursuant to the trial court's ruling, it has invited an appeal in this matter. The ruling of the trial court is that it was going to make a determination increasing the alimony and rule in a fashion to "bootstrap" its decisions in any form or fashion whether it was procedurally correct or whether there was sufficient evidence before the court.

The trial court further granted attorneys fees to the petitioner even though there was no itemization of the work performed, documentation as to what was accomplished for the time periods nor any other basis to show that the work was reasonable in light of the services performed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

It was inappropriate to have the matter adjudicated as an Order to Show Cause. The Order to Show Cause had been dismissed and the matter was before the court on a Petition for Modification. The allegations in the Petition for Modification were that the respondent had manipulated the corporation and his income so as to defeat the "bonus" alimony payments to the petitioner. There was no finding of any manipulation and there was now showing of any inappropriate acts by the respondent to defeat the petitioner's alimony on bonuses. The court should

not have modified the Decree because there is no basis to modify the Decree. There was no showing of any substantial change in circumstance nor was there any showing of unforeseen circumstances which were not contemplated at the time that the Decree was initially entered. The petitioner had not met her burden of proof to allow for the Decree to be modified.

The Decree has been modified by the trial court. The only time to which the Decree could be modified would have been from April 1996 forward. Retro-active application to August 26, 1992 is not appropriate.

K-1 income as received by the respondent should not be included as a basis for the payment of alimony.

Attorneys fees awarded by the trial court was improper. There was no compliance with Rule 4-505 of the Code of Judicial Administration nor any other evidence to show that the attorneys fees as awarded herein were appropriate or correct.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT INAPPROPRIATELY TURNED THE PETITION FOR MODIFICATION INTO AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE TO ARRIVE AT AN IMPROPER RULING

The petitioner had wanted to receive more money from the respondent and so she had filed an Order to Show Cause in July 1995. (R 822-834) Thereafter the Order to Show Cause was presented for adjudication before the Honorable Lisa A. Jones, Domestic Relations Commissioner,

who entered her ruling on February 12, 1996. A copy of that entry is attached hereto and made a part hereof and marked "Addendum A". (See also R at p.959-961) As a result of the Minute Entry an order was submitted and entered by the court on March 27, 1996. (R at p.967-969) That order was signed by the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson and incorporated the findings of the Commissioner pursuant to her Minute Entry of February 12, 1996. Pursuant to the findings it was determined that the matter that was before the court was a request to modify the Decree of Divorce. The specific language was that "the court finds that this is a modification issue to be dealt with under a Petition to Modify". (See Addendum A.) Accordingly the Order to Show Cause was dismissed and no appeal was taken from the Order to Show Cause.

Based upon this ruling the petitioner filed her Petition to Modify in order to seek additional alimony from the respondent. (R at p.962-966)

At the pre-trial held prior to the trial the court had informed counsel that he was going to review the matter as if it were still being presented on the basis of an Order to Show Cause. This was objected to by the respondent's attorney. At the commencement of the trial the court thereafter again affirmed that it was going to review the matter as if the action were presented under the Order to Show Cause even though the same was objected to by respondent's attorney and the court again noted this objection when it made its ruling. (R 1166 at p.2 and 1163 at p.2)

The trial court held that an Order to Show Cause and the Petition to Modify are one and the same. The trial court thinks that the only difference between the two of those being the retro-active

application. (R 1137 at ¶ 1, 1143 at ¶ 1 and 1150 at ¶ 1) The matter had previously been adjudicated on the basis of whether or not it was an Order to Show Cause. The issue of the form of the hearing being an Order to Show Cause should have therefore been moot. To have the trial court re-litigate this case as an Order to Show Cause is a violation of the doctrine of res judicata. The trial court would not accept that there are differences between an Order to Show Cause and a Petition for Modification and it used them interchangeably. There are different standards for each of these particular legal doctrines. An Order to Show Cause is based upon the enforcement of the Decree (See Wiles v. Wiles, 871 P.2d 1026 (Ut.App. 1994) and Dent v. Dent, 870 P.2d 280 (Ut.App. 1994)). A Petition for Modification is to modify the terms or language in a Decree upon which there must be a showing of a substantial change of circumstance subsequent to the Decree that was not originally contemplated within the Decree itself before the same can be modified. See Jense v. Jense, 784 P.2d 1249 (Ut.App. 1989) and Grover v. Grover, 839 P.2d 871 (Ut.App. 1992) The petitioner had stated at trial that she did not wish to modify the Decree but only to enforce it. (R 1166 at p.13)

The Petition as filed by the petitioner alleges that funds had been diverted by the respondent so that he is no longer paid bonuses and that the diversion is so as to preclude payment of any additional funds of bonus money to the petitioner. (R 964 ¶'s 7, 8 and 10) At trial the only evidence presented by the petitioner was that there had been an increase in income to respondent as reported in his tax returns. (R 1166 at p.6, 9, and 10) There was no evidence from the petitioner as to how or why respondent's income had changed. There was absolutely no evidence presented by the

petitioner that she had not received all of the bonus monies as required pursuant to the Decree of Divorce. (R 1166 at p. 19-20)

At the time that the original stipulation upon which the original Decree is based had been presented to the court, the corporation, of which the respondent is a twenty percent (20%) share holder, was involved in a tax audit and the structure of the corporation was going to be changed. There was a great likelihood that because of the audit and the way that the monies had been paid in the past that the respondent would have substantial tax consequences which the respondent would be solely required to bear without contribution from the petitioner. Mr. Peterson, petitioner's then attorney, represented to the court at the time of the stipulation which was the basis for the Decree of Divorce the following:

There is a tax liability being assessed to either MST Trucking or MST Financial or Mr. Moon individually, and Mr. Moon will be responsible for that. Without any question, any tax effect as to his own income as a result of that, and whatever the result audit is that is taking place with MST Trucking." (R 1165 at p.8; R 1166 at p.24)

According to the trial court's Findings of Fact number 7, the court found that

"In regards to the question of whether or not the plaintiff's Petition to Modify meets the statutory rule, the court finds that there was a material change in circumstances in that the change in the structure of the payment of the defendant's income was not foreseeable. The resulting change in the structure of the income of the defendant constitutes a material change of circumstances. Accordingly, the plaintiff's enforcement of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce of August 26, 1992 is the same either by the use of the plaintiff's Order to Show Cause or by bringing a Petition to Modify." (R at 1140-1141)

This finding is just contrary to the evidence and contrary to the law.

A. Lack of Evidence.

The petitioner knew that the company was undergoing an audit and that there would be tax problems relating to that audit for the respondent. (R 1166 at p.23 & 24; R 1167 at p. 6-8; R 1165 at p.8) Mr. Larry Kirkham, respondent's then attorney had informed Mr. Peterson, petitioner's then attorney, that there was going to be a change in the corporate structure and that tax liability would most likely occur to respondent and that future bonuses were speculative at best. (R 1167 at p. 6-8) This information was discussed prior to the 1992 pre-trial and during the time when the business valuation was being made by the petitioner's evaluator. The corporate structure in fact was changed at approximately the end of the company's fiscal year, March 31, 1992 which would have been prior to the settlement conference of May 29, 1992. (R 1167 at p.7) The petitioner has always known of the financial condition of the company, the company structure changed and she did her own investigation and evaluation of the company. What was happening to the company was definitely foreseeable and known.

The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce were prepared by petitioner's counsel and thus any ambiguity in and to the documents should be construed against the petitioner. Respondent does not believe that any ambiguity exists. Pursuant to the Decree of Divorce the petitioner was to receive thirty percent (30%) of the bonuses which the respondent received. She was not to receive thirty percent (30%) of all of his salary over and above \$150,000. (R 505 at ¶ 8

of the Decree of Divorce; (R 1167 at p.17-18; R 1166 at p.18) No bonus monies were received by the respondent and none were paid in 1993 or thereafter.

After the change in the corporate structure of MST Trucking bonuses were no longer available. Mr. Moon received a four percent (4%) increase in his salary in 1993, approximately one percent (1%) increase in his salary in 1994 and a seven percent (7%) increase in his salary in 1995. (R 1167 at p.12) Respondent began to receive K-1 distributions commencing 1992. Even though the respondent's tax returns show substantial income, actual "cash" was not received by him. Pursuant to the K-1 distributions the respondent was required to pay taxes on income that he did not receive. (R 1167 at p.12) When there was a "cash" distribution which he received, which would have been a return on capital which is not a bonus, the respondent paid one-third (1/3) of that distribution to the petitioner. (R 1167 at p.12) The Decree of Divorce does not provide that the petitioner receive one-third (1/3) of the monies over and above \$150,000 that the respondent receives from his salary at MST Trucking but solely that she receives thirty percent (30%) of his bonuses. (Emphasis added) (R 1167 at p.28) Petitioner received one-third (1/3) of the monies when there has been a "cash" distribution to respondent. These were monies that he did not have to pay to her and which there was no obligation to pay to her. Respondent, acting in good faith, paid her one-third (1/3) of the funds that he did in fact receive. Petitioner was not paid on the K-1 "pass through" or the K-1 income when he did not receive any "cash" distributions. It was noted by both Mr. Kirkham and Craig Willet that Mr. Moon has been paying taxes on monies that he never actually received

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