1997

Mary Ann Moon v. Stanley W. Moon : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows a judge to revise an order or other form of decision “before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties.” Therefore, Judge Wilkinson was able to revise the prior ruling of the court and reinstate the Petitioner’s Order to Show Cause, despite the fact that Petitioner had not filed a formal objection to Commissioner Jones’ earlier ruling that dismissed the Order and ruled that the action should be brought under a Petition to Modify.

2. The Petitioner’s Order to Show Cause was the appropriate motion through which to bring action in this matter. Judge Wilkinson ruled correctly when he reinstated the Order to Show Cause since the relief sought by the Petitioner was the payment of alimony in accordance with the original Decree of Divorce despite the efforts by the Respondent to divert income in the form of “bonuses” back to regular salary and other forms of compensation from a company in which he had a voting ownership interest. Because the Respondent’s “total income” remained essentially the same, a Petition for Modification of the Decree of Divorce was not necessary since there had been no substantial change in circumstances not originally contemplated within the Decree itself. The court ruled correctly when it ordered the recalculation of alimony retroactive to the date of the Decree despite the objections of the Respondent, because the court

was simply enforcing the intent of the Decree under the Order to Show Cause. Alternatively, even under the Petition for Modification, there is a fraud exception applicable in this case that would allow retroactive modification back to the date of the original Decree, not just the date of service of the Petition itself.

3. The District Court ruled correctly when it determined that K-1 distributions are “income” for the purposes of calculating alimony, since they were made as compensation to the Respondent from the Respondent’s company in which he had a large ownership interest. The case of *Morgan v. Morgan* 854 P.2d 559 (Utah App. 1993) recognizes that the court may consider K-1 income in dividing assets among parties to a divorce action.

4. The court did not abuse its discretion in awarding attorney fees in this matter since such an award is contemplated and specifically allowed by statute in U.C.A. §30-3-3 under an Order to Show Cause motion.

ARGUMENT

Point I: The Court Properly Reinstated The Petitioner’s Order to Show Cause.

A. Rule 54(b)

On June 30, 1995, the Petitioner brought an Order to Show Cause (R at 822-834) against the Respondent for payment under the terms and conditions of Paragraph 10 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law for a determination of the court that the Respondent had converted

his bonuses to salary. The Petitioner, in her Order to Show Cause, requested that the court enforce the intent of the Findings of Fact and that the court clarify the 30% payment of all income over \$150,000 since 1993. No modification was requested by the Petitioner. Petitioner requested that full payment of all alimony of the Respondent be subject to a 30% payment to the Petitioner from 1993 onward for amounts in excess of \$150,000 a year.

After extensive discovery and delays, the matter finally came before Domestic Relations Commissioner Lisa A. Jones who dismissed the Order to Show Cause in a Minute Entry (R at 959-961) dated February 12, 1996. Pursuant to the Commissioner's instructions in the Minute Entry, the Petitioner filed a Petition for Modification (R at 962-966) seeking the same relief as that specified in the Order to Show Cause. The Petitioner did not file a formal appeal to the ruling of the Commissioner but waited to address the matter directly in a Pretrial Hearing before Judge Homer F. Wilkinson who had authority to revise the prior ruling according to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which he did. Judge Wilkinson reinstated the Order to Show Cause. During the trial of this matter on May 29, 1997, Judge Wilkinson stated:

This court is of the opinion that this should be before the court on the Order to Show Cause and not on the Petition to Modify. I think counsel, Mr. Hunt, was wrong in not bringing an objection to the recommendation of the commissioner. I'm sure I signed her recommendation when it came before me. Unless there's an objection made to those, then they're automatically signed.

But I think, either way, about the only difference it makes as far as the Order to Show Cause or a Petition to Modify would be the question as far as retroactivity of any amounts which the court may

award. (Page 2 of the Reporter's Partial Transcript of Trial Proceedings; Order to Show Cause/Modification: Court's Ruling.)

Although, with hindsight, it may have been better to file an immediate objection to Commissioner Jones' ruling dismissing the Order to Show Cause, the fact remains that according to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Judge Wilkinson had the authority to change the court's prior ruling in the matter because the court had not made:

the entry of a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties only upon an express determination by the court that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of the judgment.

Until that time, as Rule 54(b) goes on to clearly state:

In the absence of such determination and direction, however designated, which adjudicates fewer than all the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties shall not terminate the action as to any of the claims or parties, and the order or other form of decision is subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties.

In *Trembly v. Mrs. Fields Cookies*, 884 P.2d 1306, 1311 (Utah App. 1994), this Court acknowledged that Rule 54 (b) allows “for the possibility of a judge changing his or her mind” and that when a court reconsiders a prior ruling it may evaluate several factors including the “‘manifest injustice’ [which] will result if the court does not reconsider the prior ruling” or the need for a court to “correct its own errors” or even the possibility that “an issue was inadequately briefed when first contemplated by the court.” (See also *Salt Lake City Corp. v. James*

Constructors, 761 P.2d 42 (Utah App. 1988) and *Timm v. Dewsnap*, 851 P.2d 1178 (Utah 1993).)

B. Appealability

Although an objection could have been raised, the issue could not have been appealed until after a final judgment was entered on the entire matter addressed by the Order to Show Cause and/or the Petition for Modification. In *Backstrom Family Ltd. Partnership v. Hall*, 751 P.2d 1157 (Utah App. 1988), this Court outlines the standard governing the appealability of rulings:

The Utah Supreme Court in *Pate v. Marathon Steel Co.*, 692 P.2d 765 (Utah 1984), set out the standard under which rulings are appealable under Rule 54(b). A ruling is subject to Rule 54(b) certification if 1) there are multiple claims or parties; 2) the ruling would be appealable but for the fact that other claims or parties remain in the action; and 3) the trial court determines that there is “no just reason” to delay the appeal. Appeal of such a ruling is available when the lower court “certifies” the order under Rule 54(b). However, even with certification, the order is not appealable unless it wholly disposes of a claim or party. *Pate*, 692 P.2d at 768. (*Id.* at 1159)

The Commissioner’s ruling dismissing the Petitioner’s Order to Show Cause and instructing the Petitioner to bring the claim under a Petition for Modification did not wholly dispose of a claim or party and was, therefore, not appealable at that time. Even if an appeal could have hypothetically been taken, such an appeal would be unlikely to survive appellate scrutiny because the issues to be adjudicated under the subsequent Petition to Modify would have been

substantially the same as those under the Order to Show Cause. As the Utah Supreme Court stated in *Bennion v. Pennzoil Co.*, 826 P.2d 137, 138 (Utah 1992): “Today we hold that a claim is not separate if a decision on claims remaining below would moot the issues on appeal.” (See also *Furniture Distribution Center v. Miles*, 821 P.2d 1165 (Utah 1991) and *Tyler v. Department of Human Services*, 874 P.2d 119 (Utah 1994).) Although an objection could have been filed to the Commissioners dismissal of the Order to Show Cause, the trial court was within its authority to revise its prior ruling concerning the Order to Show Cause and to reinstate the same.

Point II: Despite the Petitioner’s Filing of a Petition for Modification, the Order to Show Cause Filed Initially is the Appropriate Motion Through Which to Adjudicate this Matter.

A. Findings of Fact

In an effort to expedite the adjudication of the Petitioner’s claims against the Respondent, the Petitioner filed a Petition for Modification in accordance with the instructions of Commissioner Jones; however, when the matter went to trial Judge Wilkinson stated, “This court is of the opinion that this should be before the court on the Order to Show Cause and not on the Petition to Modify.” (See Addendum B, page 2.)

While Appellee acknowledges that Paragraph 7 of the 1997 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R at 1140-41) appears contradictory in relation to the other paragraphs of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the trial court clarifies its meaning in Paragraphs 4, 5, 6, and 8 (R at 1138-41) concerning the relief sought in both the Order to Show Cause and

Petition for Modification and the issue of “change of circumstances”. While the trial court acknowledges that there has been a change in the structure of the payment of the Respondent’s income, the total income of the Respondent has not materially changed. As the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law indicate in Paragraph 6 (R at 1139-40):

Regardless of how you look at payment of his [Respondent’s] income, the [Respondent] was going to be paying alimony on his total income of \$250,000 a year.

Since that initial alimony payment structure was set up in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of August 26, 1992, the allocation of [Respondent’s] income has been restructured as to the allocation between the [Respondent’s] salary and his bonuses. The [Respondent] now receives little or no bonuses and his salary has been substantially increased. Despite the change in the structure of how the [Respondent’s] income is paid to the [Respondent], the meaning of the Divorce Decree and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law have not changed.

Whether one views the relief sought by the Petitioner as better falling under an Order to Show Cause or a Petition to Modify, the relief granted by the trial court was appropriate under the circumstances: “If the nature of the motion can be ascertained from the substance of the instrument, we have heretofore held that an improper caption is not fatal to that motion.”

Gallardo v. Bolinder, 800 P.2d 816, 817 (Utah 1990) quoting *Armstrong Rubber Co. v. Bastian*, 657 P.2d 1346 (Utah 1983) (citing *Howard v. Howard*, 356 P.2d 275, 276 (1960)).

B. “Bonuses”

Despite the attempt of the Appellant to convince this Court that the Appellant’s previous bonuses were gratuities to which he had no right to make a demand, and that, therefore, Appellee is bound to accept a current calculation of alimony based on bonuses that no longer exist (Brief of the Appellant, page 16), the facts, the Divorce Decree, as well as the trial court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law clearly indicate that “bonus” in this case refers to a form of compensation from MST Trucking -- similar to a form of *yearly* salary (R at 1138). Both 15 U.S.C. § 1672(a) and Rule 64D(d)(vii) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure include “bonuses” in their definitions of “earnings” as being compensation paid for personal services. (*See Funk v. Utah State Tax Com’n* 839 P.2d 818, 821 (Utah 1992).) The Appellant’s bonuses, which were included in the original trial court’s calculation of his total income upon which a total amount of alimony should be based, have now been phased out and replaced with a larger amount of monthly salary, “cash distributions”, and K-1 distributions. However, the Appellants total income has not decreased, it has instead increased by over \$100,000 per year (R at 1167, page 24).

Yet despite this fact, Appellant argues that Appellee should forfeit \$30,000 a year in alimony (over 50% of the original amount of alimony contemplated in the 1992 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce) because he claims that Appellee is bound by the original Settlement Proceedings (R at 1165) at which she agreed to accept alimony based on a combination of \$2,400 dollars a month and 30% of his bonuses which were \$100,000 a year at

the time (R at 1048).

The Appellant refers to the case of *Jense v. Jense*, 784 P.2d 1249, 1252 (Utah App. 1989) in his brief (page 16) in an attempt to show that not receiving a bonus does not amount to “a substantial change in circumstance not originally contemplated within the decree itself”. Despite the contradictory wording of Paragraph 7 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (discussed above), Appellee agrees. The original trial court ordered, on August 26, 1992, the Respondent to pay alimony on his bonus income at the end of the year so that he would not be forced to pay month to month on income he had not yet, but would, receive at the end of the year (fiscal or calendar). As Paragraph 10 of the August 26, 1992 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R at 496-497) indicates:

Based upon the incomes of the parties, the [Respondent] has agreed to pay to the [Petitioner] the sum of \$2,400.00 per month as alimony. The [Respondent] will also pay to the [Petitioner], as additional alimony thirty percent (30%) of the gross amount of any bonuses he receives as additional income above his annual base salary which is currently \$150,000.00 without bonuses. The [Respondent] will provide independent verification to the [Petitioner] of any and all bonuses received. The parties agree that this form of payment of alimony is being adopted and agreed upon because the [Respondent] receives a monthly gross income of \$12,500.00 per month. Accordingly, after deductions for state and federal taxes, social security, health care premiums, child support and alimony, the [Respondent] will be left with approximately \$2,500.00 net income to meet his own monthly financial needs. The payment of alimony in the total amounts required when considering [Respondent's] annual income can only be made after the [Respondent] has received his bonus. The [Respondent] shall make distribution to the [Petitioner] of thirty percent (30%) of his

gross bonus immediately upon his receipt thereof, and the parties recognize that his will qualify as payment of alimony in addition to \$2,400.00 per month paid from [Respondent's] base salary. Based upon the [Respondent's] current bonus of \$100,000 per year, the amount of alimony paid from the [Respondent's] bonuses would be \$30,000.00 additional annual payment of alimony.

In *Jense*, a similar situation is presented:

When the trial court ordered defendant not to reduce her awards to judgment until April 1, 1987, its purpose was to allow plaintiff time to receive an anticipated bonus so that he could more easily pay this obligation. The failure of plaintiff to receive a bonus in 1987 is not a change of circumstances justifying a modification of the awards made in the decree because it is unrelated to the circumstances upon which the original awards were made by the trial court, and relates only to plaintiff's ability to pay them. (At 1252.)

In other words, the fact that the structure of Appellant's compensation changed is "unrelated" to the total amount in alimony which he must pay to Appellee, especially considering the fact that the total amount of his income has stayed substantially the same or *increased*. Whether he labels his income as "salary" or "bonuses" or K-1 distributions is irrelevant; the Appellant is still required to pay Appellee approximately \$58,800 a year in alimony. He has never met this obligation, that is why the Order to Show Cause was brought against him to enforce the original Decree and why the trial court ruled against him.

In addition to finding that this action was properly before the court on an Order to Show Cause, the trial court unfortunately chose to find that there was "a material change of

circumstances *in that the change in the structure of the payment of the [Respondent's] income was not foreseeable*" (emphasis added) in order to justify the Petitioner's Petition for Modification (R at 1140). Were it not for the context in which such an assertion was made by the trial court, Appellee might be inclined to agree that such a contradictory ruling was an abuse of discretion by the trial court. In this case however, the only practical difference, other than a finding of "material change in circumstances", between the two types of motions is the issue of retroactivity. As stated in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R at 1143):

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